REPORT

Monitoring the Implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities

The UK Independent mechanism list of issues interim report









Contents

Foreword	3
Introduction	4
Submission, by Article	6
Articles 3 and 4: General principles and obligations	6
Article 5: Equality and non-discrimination	8
Article 6: Women with disabilities	9
Article 7: Children with disabilities	10
Article 8: Awareness-raising	11
Article 9: Accessibility and Article 21: Freedom of expression	
and opinion and access to information	12
Article 10: Right to life	14
Article 12: Equal recognition before the law	15
Article 13: Access to justice	16
Article 14: Liberty and security of person	18
Article 15: Freedom from torture or cruel, inhuman or	
degrading treatment or punishment	18
Article 16: Freedom from exploitation, violence and abuse and	
Article 17: Protecting the integrity of the person	19
Article 19: Living independently and being included in the community	20
Article 23: Respect for home and the family	24
Article 24: Education	24
Article 25: Right to the highest attainable standard of physical	
and mental health	26
Article 27: Work and employment	29
Article 28: Adequate standard of living and social protection	30
Article 29: Participation in political and public life	33
Article 30: Participation in cultural life, recreation, leisure and sport	33
Article 31: Statistics and data collection	34
Article 33: National implementation and monitoring	35
Article 46: Reservations	37
Annex	39
Contacts	46

Monitoring the Implementation of the UNCRPD

Introduction

The UK Independent Mechanism (UKIM)

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC), the Equality Commission for Northern Ireland (ECNI), the Northern Ireland Human Rights Commission (NIHRC) and the Scottish Human Rights Commission (SHRC) are designated, by Article 33(2), as the UK Independent Mechanism (UKIM) to promote, protect and monitor the implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD) in the UK.

Scope

The organisational structure of UKIM reflects the constitutional make up of the UK. This report covers matters which are the responsibility of the UK Government as well as those which have been devolved to the Northern Ireland Executive, the Scottish Government and the Welsh Government (the devolved governments). For clarity, we explain in the main report and the endnotes where a policy, the law, evidence and data or an issue is specific to or differs significantly in one or more of the four nations.

The report

The report is largely structured to reflect that adopted by the UK in its Initial Report on UNCRPD. It draws on the significant work done in relation to the Convention by each of the Commissions since the UK ratified the UNCRPD in 2009. UKIM has been actively involved in engaging civil society, and in particular disabled people and disabled people's organisations (DPOs) with the monitoring process. This has included events to raise awareness of the Convention rights and obligations; capacity building events to build practical knowledge of and to discuss how best DPOs can engage with the UN reporting process and using new technologies to reach disabled people in remote and rural areas. Disabled people were involved in the development of this submission through a series of events and a call for evidence to capture their views, experiences and priority issues.

The report has also drawn on our internal sources, such as legal casework and enforcement, treaty monitoring, research, responses to government consultations and policy work. We have also relied on many external sources such as reports from DPOs, academic research and reports of other regulators and Ombudsmen.

Submission, by Article

Articles 3 and 4: General principles and obligations

Taking into account the protection and promotion of the human rights of disabled people in all policies and programmes

In its Initial Report, the UK Government states that 'new and reformed policies that might affect disabled people are considered in the light of Convention obligations'. It is not clear, however, what mechanisms are in place to carry out this assessment and how the assessment is co-ordinated across the four nations which make up the UK.

The UK Parliament's Joint Committee on Human Rights' (JCHR) inquiry into Article 19 recently concluded that 'the UNCRPD, and Article 19 in particular, does not appear to have played a central role in the development of policy. Inadequate attention has been paid to the impact of relevant policy on the implementation of the UNCRPD, in contravention of Article 4(1) and 4(3).'²

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

 To explain how the UK and devolved governments take into account the UNCRPD in the development and implementation of all new and existing policies, programmes, and legislation and how this action is co-ordinated at national and UK-wide level

The UK and devolved governments have each taken measures to embed the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) into the development of new policy and legislation. The JCHR has called for an equivalent commitment that the UK 'will give due consideration to the articles in the UN Disability Convention when making new policy and legislation'.³

2. Do the UK and devolved governments intend to implement the JCHR's recommendation and, if so, when?

Ensuring public authorities and institutions act in conformity with the UNCRPD

In the UK, decisions about some of the most important aspects of disabled people's lives rest in the hands of regional, local and other national bodies. For example, local authorities arrange or provide adult social care services and decide whether a disabled person has to pay for these services.⁴ The UK Initial Report does not provide information about the measures taken to ensure that such bodies recognise and implement the rights in the Convention.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

3. To describe the measures in place to ensure that public authorities, including councils, are aware of and act in conformity with the Convention and the outcomes of those measures.

Involving disabled people in the development and implementation of legislation and policies

The UK Initial Report affirms the UK's support for the requirement under Article 4(3) that disabled people should be involved in the implementation of the Convention and other decision-making processes. However, it does not provide information about how the views of disabled people are actively sought and incorporated into the development and implementation of policy- and law-making across the UK.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

4. To detail, with examples, how the UK and devolved governments ensure the active involvement of disabled people and children in the development and implementation of legislation and policies and the effect of this involvement.

Article 5: Equality and non-discrimination

Disability discrimination law in Northern Ireland

As a result of the implementation of the Equality Act 2010 (EA 2010) disability equality legislation in Britain has been harmonised and strengthened providing a greater level of protection for disabled people in England, Scotland and Wales.

The UK Initial Report claims the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (DDA), extant in Northern Ireland (NI), offers 'similar protection' for disabled people as the EA (2010). This is inaccurate as the EA (2010) provides for redress against perceived and associative discrimination; indirect discrimination; discrimination arising out of a disability; establishes the reasonable adjustment duty to provide auxiliary aids and services for disabled pupils and prohibits asking questions about disability and health during the recruitment process, except in limited circumstances.

The DDA does not provide these protections. Therefore, there is a significantly lower level of protection from disability discrimination in Northern Ireland compared to the rest of the UK.⁵

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

5. What measures the Northern Ireland Executive has taken to ensure that the legislative protections for disabled people in Britain are available in Northern Ireland.

Damages for disability discrimination in school education

Discrimination cases in the provision of school education, which do not involve disability, are dealt with in the Sheriff or County Court; they are empowered to award all remedies available in the Court of Session and High Court, which includes damages for any loss and compensation for injury to feelings.

However, disability cases go to the Special Educational Needs Tribunal (SENDIST) in England, Wales and Northern Ireland and the Additional Support Needs Tribunal Scotland (ASNTS) in Scotland, which are not empowered to award compensation for discrimination or harassment. Neither do they have the power to provide injunctive relief (interdicts or specific implements in Scotland).

This means that there can be situations where one child could be harassed because of race and one because of disability and the first child can seek compensation and injunctive relief, whilst the second child cannot.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

6. What steps has the UK taken to monitor and remedy the different treatment of disabled children seeking redress against discrimination or harassment in schools with regard to access to compensation and injunctive relief?

The issues above are also relevant to Article 13, access to justice.

Article 6: Women with disabilities

Violence against disabled women and girls

Disabled women experience disproportionate levels of all forms of violence and abuse at the hands of carers and partners as well as in the community. In particular, disabled women are more likely than non-disabled women to have been a recent victim of crime⁶ and they feel less safe and more at risk of violent attack when out after dark than non-disabled women and men.⁷ Recent research from England suggests that rape allegations involving adult complainants with recorded mental health impairments are less likely to be referred to the Crown Prosecution Service by the police.⁸

Studies throughout the UK have identified a higher incidence of domestic violence amongst disabled women compared with non-disabled women. ⁹ Evidence from England concluded that 'cutbacks in national budgets have led to reductions in the provision of local services and the loss of specialised expertise'. ¹⁰ Recent public health guidance recommends that more needs to be done to help people, including disabled women, who find domestic violence and abuse services inaccessible or difficult to use. ¹¹ Similar evidence on the inconsistent provision of accessible domestic abuse support services is available in relation to Wales. ¹²

- 7. To outline the availability of specialist services that are accessible to disabled women who experience sexual or domestic abuse. Where these services are provided locally, how do the national governments meet their responsibilities by collating information on service availability and adequacy?
- 8. To evidence how local and national domestic violence strategies, policies and programmes identify the needs of disabled women and ensure disabled women are able to use domestic abuse services.

Article 7: Children with disabilities

Inclusion of disabled children (also relevant to Article 4)

The UN Committee on the Rights of the Child (the UNCRC) has voiced their concern that in the UK there is no comprehensive national strategy for the inclusion of disabled children.¹³

The UK Government's disability strategy and action plan, *Fulfilling Potential – Making it Happen*, ¹⁴ does not set out a comprehensive plan for the inclusion of disabled children in society. It is also unclear whether the needs of disabled children have been included in national disability or children's strategies. Nor is there an indication of how disabled children have been involved in the development of national policies and strategies for disability and children.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

9. To detail the methods by which the views of disabled children and young people are respected fully and taken into account in the development of UK and devolved government strategies, policies and programmes on disability and children and to evidence the effect this has had.

Poverty (also relevant to Article 28)

In the UK disabled children experience higher levels of poverty and personal and social disadvantage than other groups of children ¹⁵ and it was estimated that 4 out of 10 disabled children lived in poverty in 2008/9. Parents of disabled children face

particular barriers to accessing or remaining in employment. An Independent Parliamentary Inquiry concluded that the lack of appropriate or affordable childcare for disabled children and young people means that families with disabled children are more likely to experience poverty.¹⁷ In addition, concerns have been raised that the UK Government's welfare reform programme is having the effect of increasing levels of poverty experienced by disabled children.¹⁸

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

10. To explain the initiatives that have been taken to reduce the number of disabled children living in poverty and the effect these initiatives have had.

In care (this is also relevant to Article 31)

The UN Committee on the Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) has raised concerns about the increased number of disabled children in alternative care settings. The exact number of disabled children who are looked after is not known because the data is not collected. However, there is evidence across the UK that they are more likely to be looked after, remain in care for longer and have a higher risk of being placed inappropriately and experience a higher turnover of placements in comparison to non-disabled children.¹⁹

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

11. To evidence how the particular needs of looked after disabled children are being addressed, the measures that have been taken to ensure they receive the support and care needed and the outcomes achieved by those measures.

Article 8: Awareness-raising

Prejudice and negative attitudes

There is significant evidence highlighting the continuing existence, nature and extent of prejudice and negative attitudes towards disabled people, including at work, school and in the community.²⁰

This may be reinforced by negative portrayals of disabled people in the media, including an increase in articles in the print media about the 'burden' that disabled

people are alleged to place on the economy.²¹ The National Centre for Social Research (2012) recorded deteriorating attitudes towards disabled people who are benefits recipients.²²

People with mental health conditions and those with 'hidden' impairments were more likely to receive unsympathetic treatment from the press than other groups.²³

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

12. To detail the steps taken and outcomes achieved to initiate and encourage public portrayals of disabled people, including through government communications, that are consistent with the purpose of the Convention.

Article 9: Accessibility and Article 21: Freedom of expression and opinion and access to information

Housing

There is a lack of accessible housing across the UK²⁴ and no mechanism that guarantees accessible housing. The problem is likely to become more acute if new house building should slow.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

13. To provide current data on the extent to which accessible housing is available across the UK and information on how the UK will ensure that new and existing housing is accessible and can be easily adapted when people become disabled.

Access to the built environment and shared space

There are concerns across the UK about the accessibility of the urban and rural environment.²⁵ The most common barriers disabled adults experience when accessing buildings are: stairs; doors or narrow corridors; inadequate lifts or escalators; parking problems; lack of ramps/handrails; footpath design and surfaces; difficulty with transport getting to the building; lack of help or assistance.²⁶

The potential dangers to people with visual impairments and other disabled people of shared space street design, which means that vehicles and pedestrians share the same space without an obvious dividing line between them, was highlighted in a documentary launched in the House of Lords in December 2013.²⁷

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

- 14. To explain the steps taken to improve access to the built environment including ensuring that public and private organisations comply with accessibility standards and to detail the effectiveness of these steps.
- 15. To explain the steps taken to ensure that street designs are accessible to and do not put at risk people with visual and other impairments and to detail the effectiveness of these steps.

Transport

UKIM acknowledges the steps put in place to improve accessibility of transport described in the UK Initial Report. However, disabled people continue to experience significant barriers when trying to use transport including the lack of accessible railway stations, difficulties getting in or out of transport, getting to and from bus stops or bus/ train stations, the lack of integration between the different modes of transport, and the attitudes of staff. ²⁸ The Parliamentary Select Committee on Transport has voiced its disagreement with the UK government's decision to opt out of EU requirements for bus and coach operators to provide disability awareness training for staff. It also raised concerns about how the implementation of the Department for Transport accessibility action plan is being monitored.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

16. To provide evidence of the effectiveness of legislation and public initiatives aimed at improving transport accessibility (including bus, rail, taxi and transport by air and sea); and to explain how monitoring is undertaken to ensure compliance with and improvements to meet its obligations under the Convention.

Information in accessible formats

There are concerns about the availability of accessible information about government services and, in particular, information about health and social care

services not being provided in a way that is easily understandable to people with learning disabilities.²⁹ Across the UK there is a shortage of appropriately qualified Sign Language Interpreters, lip speakers and palantypists.³⁰ These concerns are particularly apparent in Northern Ireland.³²

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

- 17. To provide an update on the steps taken to ensure the provision of information in accessible and appropriate formats, including Easy Read, and how the effectiveness of these measures is monitored.
- 18. To provide information on the availability of sign language interpreters, lip speakers and palantypists and the steps being taken to increase availability and ensure disabled people can access appropriate communication support in a timely and cost-effective manner.

Article 10: Right to life

Suicide

Suicide rates continue to be a concern across the UK, with particularly high rates in Northern Ireland and Scotland. ³³ Strategic responses to suicide vary across the UK.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

19. To explain how current suicide prevention strategies take account of the needs and circumstances of disabled people, in particular those with mental health problems, and to evidence the effectiveness of these steps in reducing suicide rates.

Deaths in mental health detention

There is no single person or agency automatically responsible for investigating nonnatural deaths in mental health settings.³⁵ The Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland has also highlighted that people leaving detention are at greater risk of suicide. ³⁶ In Scotland, a review of Fatal Accident Inquiry legislation recommended a mandatory fatal accident inquiry into the death of any person who is subject at the time of death to compulsory detention by a public authority.³⁷ The Scottish Government has not confirmed whether it intends to implement this recommendation in full and is currently consulting on alternative options.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has recently launched an inquiry into non-natural deaths in detention of adults with mental health conditions³⁸. While there have been previous inquiries into this issue by other organisations, the EHRC is concerned that not all lessons appear to be learnt, and every year deaths occur that are later deemed to have been preventable.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

20. To explain the steps taken to ensure that the UK carries out full and independent investigations into deaths in mental health care settings and to evidence the effectiveness of these steps.

Article 12: Equal recognition before the law

The law governing mental capacity is different across the three legal jurisdictions of the UK.

However, each of the legal frameworks provide that, in certain circumstances, where an individual is functionally incapable of making a decision, an authorised individual may intervene and make a decision on their behalf either in their 'best interests'³⁹ (in England, Wales and Northern Ireland) or for their 'benefit' (in Scotland). Such an intervention can only be made once an attempt has been made to support the person to take the decision themselves.

A Parliamentary Committee considering the implementation of the law governing mental capacity in England and Wales found that 'best interests' decision-making is often not undertaken in the way set out in the Act: the wishes, thoughts and feelings (of the individual deemed to lack capacity) are not routinely prioritised.⁴⁰ Evidence presented to the Committee highlights that paternalistic attitudes have persisted.⁴¹

Each of the frameworks makes provision for an individual to appoint an attorney to make decisions on their behalf should they become mentally incapable. There are concerns that the current and proposed frameworks do not provide sufficient protection against abuse, and in particular, financial abuse.⁴²

- 21. To explain how the effectiveness of the frameworks governing mental capacity in each nation is being monitored, what actions have been taken to improve the availability of support in decision-making and the outcome of such action.
- 22. To explain how the effectiveness of the safeguards, which are in place to protect disabled people from abuse, in particular financial abuse, are monitored, to detail the steps taken to eradicate such abuse and to evidence the effectiveness of such steps.

Article 13: Access to justice

Effective participation in legal proceedings

Many disabled people experience particular disadvantage in relation to both the civil and criminal justice systems. Prosecution authorities may determine that people with learning disabilities who are victims of crime may not be competent or reliable witnesses. The conviction rate for cases where the victim has a mental health condition or learning disability is often lower than for cases involving those without. 44

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

- 23. To explain the measures taken to improve conviction rates where the victims of crime have mental health conditions or learning disabilities and provide evidence of the effectiveness of such measures.
- 24. To explain the measures taken to support 'vulnerable witnesses' with mental health conditions and learning disabilities and provide evidence of the effectiveness of such measures.

Legal aid and legal advice provision

Reforms to legal aid in England and Wales may have a particularly far reaching impact on the realisation of Article 13. The Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act (LASPO) 2012 removed many areas of law from the scope of civil legal aid including employment cases (apart from discrimination) and most housing, debt, and welfare benefits cases. An Inquiry into the proposed reforms found

evidence to suggest that disabled people rely more on legal aid services and 'there is the potential for them to be disproportionally hit by the changes'. 45

Under LASPO Act powers, a telephone advice gateway has been introduced as a mandatory first point of access for cases involving discrimination, debt and special educational needs. Widespread concerns have been raised about potential risks to access to justice, including by the EHRC's Human Rights Review. ⁴⁶ The UK Government has acknowledged that people with mental health or cognitive difficulties could find it harder to manage their case or deal with any emotional distress arising from it. ⁴⁷ Although the UK Government has given assurances that the telephone gateway service will make adjustments for disabled people, anecdotal evidence suggests that certain clients are already experiencing difficulty accessing the service. ⁴⁸

Concurrently with reforms to legal aid, there has been a substantial reduction in state support for local and national not-for-profit advice agencies relied on by many disabled people when seeking advice about their rights or help to challenge decisions.⁴⁹

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

25. To explain how the impact on disabled people of the reform to legal aid and reduction in grants to advice agencies in England and Wales is being monitored and the steps being taken to address any negative effect.

Redress against discrimination in employment

The introduction of fees⁵⁰ for employment tribunal (ET) discrimination cases may be a barrier for disabled people who wish to exercise their employment rights, despite provision for fee remission for people on certain benefits or subject to a means test. Early evidence indicates a substantial drop in ET applications; a comparison of claims issued in September 2012 (before the fees were introduced) with those issued in September 2013 shows a drop of 56 per cent.⁵¹

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

26. To provide evidence of the effect on disabled people of the introduction of fees for employment tribunal cases and to detail the steps being taken to ameliorate any negative effect.

Article 14: Liberty and security of person

Until recently the established practice in psychiatric hospitals and other care settings across the UK has been to assume that patients who are deemed incapable of consent but compliant with their admission and/or treatment could be regarded as voluntary patients.⁵² The European Court of Human Rights found in 2004 that this practice was not compliant with the ECHR, right to liberty and security of the person.

In England and Wales to attempt to address this practice the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DOLS)⁵³ were introduced to protect people in hospitals or care homes who lack capacity to consent to their care or treatment.⁵⁴ Legislative developments to address this practice have not yet been taken in Scotland (although a review is presently underway) or in Northern Ireland. ⁵⁵ Furthermore concerns have been raised regarding the effectiveness of DOLS in England and Wales. ⁵⁶

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

27. To detail the measures that have, or will be, put in place in each nation to ensure that those who are unable to consent to their placement or treatment in psychiatric hospitals and other care settings are protected in law and to explain the monitoring and review mechanisms that have been put in place.

Article 15: Freedom from torture or cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment

Treatment of disabled people in health and social care settings

A number of incidents have occurred in which disabled and older people in health and social care settings have been subjected to inhuman and degrading treatment⁵⁷ including abuse as a result of application of physical and chemical restraints.⁵⁸

In England and Wales and Scotland there are proposals to introduce a new criminal offence for the ill-treatment or willful neglect of adults in health and social care settings. There are no comparable proposals for Northern Ireland. Scotland and Northern Ireland lack a statutory definition of restraint.⁵⁹

- 28. To set out the steps taken to safeguard disabled people in health and social care settings, to monitor the effectiveness of such measures and to explain the progress that has been made since the submission of the Initial Report.
- 29. To detail the measures taken to limit the use of physical and chemical restraint and to evidence the effectiveness of such measures.

Article 16: Freedom from exploitation, violence and abuse and Article 17: Protecting the integrity of the person

Disability-related harassment and hate crime

Throughout the UK there is significant under-reporting of disability-related harassment and hate crime. ⁶⁰ Whilst research across the UK suggests that disabled people routinely face harassment, the number of disabled people reporting hate crime incidents to the police is disproportionately low. ⁶¹

The EHRC inquiry into disability-related harassment, carried out between 2009 and 2011, found that harassment was a commonplace experience for disabled people and that a culture of disbelief and systemic institutional failures were preventing it from being tackled effectively.⁶²

While progress has been made in relation to the recording of disability hate crime, prosecution and conviction remain unacceptably low. A joint review of disability hate crime in England and Wales by the inspectorates of police, Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) and probation found that, 'in many ways it is the hate crime that has been left behind'⁶³. It found the practice of both the police and the CPS to be lacking in relation to obtaining the evidence required to regard the defendant's actions as an aggravating feature. In Scotland, while the approach of police and prosecutors has improved, the lack of attention to disability hate crime by law enforcement agencies in the past has been found to continue to affect disabled people's willingness to report these crimes.⁶⁴

30. To provide an evidenced update on the progress that has been made in each nation since the submission of the Initial Report to improve the reporting and prosecution of disability-related hate crime.

Disability harassment in schools

The EHRC disability harassment inquiry reported that whilst over four-fifths of disabled pupils report being bullied compared to under two-thirds of non-disabled pupils, bullying on the basis of disability was often not acknowledged as an issue by schools or local authorities.⁶⁵

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

31. To detail the initiatives taken to address disability-related harassment and bullying in schools and to evidence the progress that is being made in addressing this issue.

Article 19: Living independently and being included in the community

Disabled people and their organisations have told the UKIM during UNCRPD involvement and engagement events that they consider the effective implementation of Article 19 as intrinsic to and a pre-requisite for the realisation of other rights under the Convention. The importance of Article 19 was also noted by the UK Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human Rights (JCHR) as part of its inquiry into the implementation of Article 19.⁶⁶

Cumulative impact

In its inquiry the JCHR concluded that, in their view, welfare reform, changes to eligibility criteria for adult social care and the closure of the Independent Living Fund (ILF) 'risk interacting in a particularly harmful way for disabled people. Some disabled people risk losing Disability Living Allowance (DLA) and local authority

support, while not getting support from the ILF, all of which may force them to return to residential care'.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

32. To explain what steps it has taken to assess the overall, cumulative impact of welfare reform, changes to social care funding and eligibility criteria and the closure of the ILF on disabled people.

Adult social care provision

Adult social care enables many disabled people to live independently. Whilst different legislative and policy measures are in place for the provision of social care in each nation, local authorities in GB and Health and Social Care Trusts in Northern Ireland have experienced reductions in their overall budgets. ⁶⁷ This has resulted in savings having to be made in social care budgets, which have been achieved, in part, by reducing levels of care and support to many disabled people. ⁶⁸

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

33. To explain what measures have been taken, and what impact they have had, to ensure that the reduction in central government funding to local authorities and health and social care trusts in each nation does not have a negative impact on the realisation of Article 19.

Eligibility criteria

There is concern that regulations under the Care Act 2014 will cause most local authorities to reprioritise their resources so that they target only disabled people who have substantial or critical support needs. Some individuals and groups, including older disabled people, people with mild to moderate learning disabilities and people with mental health impairments, are less likely to fall into the substantial and critical level despite having significant support needs. The concern is that they will not receive support with everyday tasks, potentially resulting in increasing isolation and declining physical and mental health. ⁶⁹

34. To provide information about the steps taken to ensure local authorities understand the Convention rights when setting eligibility criteria for the provision of social care.

Charging for social care

Local authorities across GB can decide whether to charge for social care provision. In recent years the number of local authorities that have increased care charges has risen⁷⁰ and changes have been implemented that reduce subsidies that protect users from being charged the full cost of their care and support.⁷¹

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

35. To provide information on the numbers of local authorities that charge for social care and how charging policies are monitored to identify the impact on disabled people.

'Portability' of care packages

If an individual who already has a care package moves to a new local authority area there is no guarantee that their care package will be preserved. In most cases, they have to undergo a new assessment and due to different local authority policies this may mean that care packages are not preserved. In England, the Care Act 2014 provides that for an interim period local authorities must continue to provide the same level of support as under the previously assessed care package. However, even with these changes the new local authority can re-assess, in time, and the individual may get less support.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

36. To demonstrate, with examples, the extent to which measures taken in each nation ensure the portability of social care packages.

People with learning disabilities in residential care settings

In England and Wales, and Northern Ireland there are many people with learning disabilities inappropriately living in assessment and treatment units⁷² due to a lack of suitable provision in local communities.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

37. What steps are being taken to move people with learning disabilities who are living inappropriately in assessment and treatment units to more suitable accommodation where they are able to live and participate inclusively in their local communities?

Closure of Independent Living Fund

The Independent Living Fund is due to be closed in 2015. In England, Wales and Northern Ireland, support previously provided by the fund, for example, funding to employ a personal assistant or to pay an agency to provide personal care, will be devolved from the UK Government to the devolved governments and local authorities. Under this new arrangement, the budget allocation will not be ringfenced as it is now. Therefore, there is no guarantee that the funding will not be absorbed into the overall social care budget. In Wales, an agreement has been made between the Welsh Government and local government to continue joint support for recipients of the Independent Living Fund in the run up to the closure of the scheme in 2015. The situation is different in Scotland where the Scottish Government announced that it will administer a Scottish Independent Living Fund.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

38. What measures have been taken, and what impact they have had, to ensure that the closure of the Independent Living Fund (with the exception of Scotland) does not have a negative impact on the realisation of Article 19?

Article 23: Respect for home and the family

Support for disabled parents

Disabled people in the UK face a number of challenges when planning and starting a family. A UK study on physically disabled parents' experiences of maternity services found that they often face negative attitudes towards their pregnancy by maternity professionals and challenges getting appropriate information and support to enable them to plan and prepare for birth.⁷³ Similar experiences were reported during UNCRPD participation events in Scotland⁷⁴ and concerns have been raised regarding access to information relating to maternity services in Northern Ireland.⁷⁵

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

39. To set out the initiatives undertaken in each nation to promote better understanding of the needs of disabled parents and the effect these initiatives have had, and explain what information is provided to disabled parents about pregnancy, birth and caring for children.

Article 24: Education

Educational outcomes

Disabled people are more likely to have poorer educational outcomes at all stages of education, but particularly during their school years.⁷⁶

Additional provision is made for many, but not all, disabled pupils through the Special Educational Needs (SEN) system in England, Wales and Northern Ireland and Additional Support Needs (ASN) system in Scotland. Substantial reforms of the SEN system are underway in England, Wales and Northern Ireland. In England disability organisations have raised concerns that the changes are being implemented too quickly⁷⁷. In Northern Ireland there is concern the reforms will dilute existing entitlement and lead to inconsistencies in provision depending on whether pupils are educated in special or mainstream schools.⁷⁸

40. To explain how reform of the Special Educational Needs (SEN) systems in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, and the current Additional Support Needs (ASN) system in Scotland, will improve educational outcomes for and participation of disabled children and young people.

Inclusive education (this issue is also relevant to Article 46)

When the UK government issued the interpretative declaration and reservation to Article 24 it set out its commitment to developing an inclusive education system. However, from the information in the Initial Report it appears that there may be an acceptance of a fixed and permanent role for separate special schools. For instance, there is no explanation of how the role of special schools is diminishing over time as mainstream schools become progressively more inclusive, including through the increased co-location of specialist and mainstream provision.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

41. To confirm the position in relation to inclusive education and explain how they will ensure the education system at all levels is inclusive and geared towards supporting disabled people to achieve their full potential and participate equally in society.

Exclusions

Research into school exclusions across the UK has identified that disabled children and those with additional needs are more likely to be excluded from school, and this includes unlawful exclusions.⁷⁹

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

42. To provide information about the measures taken to identify and reduce both unlawful and lawful exclusion of disabled pupils across the UK and to explain how progress is monitored.

Transitions from school

Research from Northern Ireland and Scotland that shows the process of transition for disabled young adults from school to further education, training or employment and from child to adult health and social care services has shown this can be highly unsatisfactory. ⁸⁰ In England, the introduction of Educational and Health Care Plans for people with learning disabilities potentially to the age of 25 may improve the position for those who require high levels of support. ⁸¹

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

43. To explain the steps taken to improve the process of transition for disabled children and young people from children's education services to further education and employment services in each nation, the effect these are having and how progress is monitored?

Article 25: Right to the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health

Health inequalities

Disabled people, particularly those with a learning disability or mental health condition, are more likely to have significant health risks, to experience health inequalities and major health problems and are likely to die younger than other people. They are also less likely to receive health checks, screening tests and treatment. Across the UK, there is evidence of low levels of disability awareness among healthcare staff; failure to investigate or treat physical ill health because it is viewed as part of a mental health condition or learning disability and a lack of user friendly written information in accessible formats.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

44. What measures have been put in place to address the health inequalities faced by people with learning disabilities and mental health conditions and to provide evidence of the progress that has been made to ensure they receive appropriate and tailored health care services.

Provision of advocacy services

In 2009, the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman and the Local Government Ombudsman for England and Wales carried out investigations into the deaths of six people with learning disabilities.⁸⁵

Their report found significant failures in service provision across both health and social care, despite extensive policy and guidance being in place. It noted that these cases were likely to be indicative of a wider problem. The report concluded that independent advocates could have provided an additional safeguard of the rights of those disabled people who were in an especially vulnerable situation.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

45. To set out the measures taken to ensure awareness and availability of advocacy services for people with learning disabilities and people with mental health conditions and to provide evidence of the effectiveness of those measures.

Mental health safeguards

In England and Scotland concerns have been raised about the effectiveness in practice of mental health legislation.

In Scotland, some of the innovations of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003 have not been effective. A legislative review conducted by the Scottish Government concluded that, for example, Advance Statements (whereby a patient can set out the way they would like to be treated in the event of becoming mentally unwell) are not widely known about or used and need further promotion. The Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland has found that there continues to be wide variation in the understanding and interpretation of the sections of the 2003 Act that allow restrictions to be placed on people who are detained. The Commission also found restrictions on individuals not subject to compulsion under the 2003 Act which were not legally authorised and that there was a lack of knowledge among staff and individuals about the right of appeal and access to mental health advocacy. In England and Wales many of the vital safeguards in the legislation have been found not to be working effectively. Issues of concern include difficulties in accessing treatment without being subject to compulsory detention, which is compounded by the unavailability of hospital beds.

In Northern Ireland, a draft Bill is under construction to govern both mental health and mental capacity law.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

46. To provide evidence of what progress has been made to ensure the safeguards provided for in mental health legislation operate effectively.

Adequacy of mental health care

Research in England and Scotland has found inconsistencies in mental health care and treatment. Evidence from Scotland has found a 'range of unmet needs' in Intensive Psychiatric Care Units. These include a lack of activities, rehabilitation or a therapeutic environment; a 'one size fits all' approach to risk management and a lack of opportunities for meaningful involvement in the care process. ⁸⁹ In England, some acute mental health units have been described as frightening, un-therapeutic and failing to demonstrate compassion, where pressure to cut acute services in the interest of finding short-term savings may be undermining good services and exacerbating difficulties. ⁹⁰

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

47. To provide information about the steps being taken to ensure greater respect for the human rights of disabled people in mental health settings and to evidence the effectiveness of these steps.

Mental health strategy for Northern Ireland

Northern Ireland has a disproportionately high rate of mental illness with 25 per cent higher overall prevalence of mental health conditions than in England. Among the factors contributing to this high level is the history of violent conflict. A previous strategy for addressing mental health issues in Northern Ireland ended in 2008 and none has been put in place since then.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

48. To confirm when a new Mental Health Strategy for Northern Ireland will be adopted.

Article 27: Work and employment

Employment gap

There is a persistent gap in the employment rates of disabled people compared to non-disabled people. Only half of disabled people in Britain are in work compared to four-fifths of non-disabled people.⁹³ In Northern Ireland, the employment rate for non-disabled people is nearly twice that of disabled people.⁹⁴

Pay gap

The pay gap (the difference in percentage terms between the median earnings of disabled people and non-disabled people) between disabled and non-disabled men is 11 per cent, while the pay gap between disabled women and non-disabled men is double this figure at 22 per cent. ⁹⁵ This is in the context of very low employment rates for disabled adults (highlighted above).

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

49. To provide an update on progress made to address the employment and pay gaps between disabled and non-disabled workers

Attitudinal barriers

Research has found that many employers have a negative attitude towards employing disabled people. For example, a research report from the Department for Work and Pensions found that only 37 per cent of employers would consider employing someone with a mental health condition. ⁹⁶

Employers' concerns about employing disabled people include perceived risks to productivity; concerns about the implications (financial and otherwise) of making workplace adjustments; confusion about legislation and required practices, and negative perceptions of legislation.⁹⁷

50. To explain how the actions outlined in the Initial Report have created a positive approach by employers to disabled people; whether they are having the effect of addressing employers' negative perceptions of disabled people as employees and, if so, how these initiatives will be extended.

Welfare to Work measures

Concerns have been raised that service providers contracted by the UK Government to deliver the Work Programme in Britain were offering job placements to disabled people with lower support needs, but giving limited consideration to disabled people with more complex support requirements.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

51. To explain how service providers delivering the Work Programme are ensuring that disabled people with complex support requirements have equal access to work and employment opportunities.

Article 28: Adequate standard of living and social protection

Twice as many disabled adults live in persistent poverty compared with non-disabled adults.⁹⁸

Since the UK Initial Report a range of measures, including a cap on welfare spending, have been introduced in subsequent Budget and Spending Reviews to reduce the fiscal deficit.

Reform of the welfare benefit system has been implemented at the same time as reductions in local government budgets, ⁹⁹ changes to how health and social care are funded and provided and changes to the support provided to assist disabled people getting into and getting on in the workplace.

Research indicates that disabled people are disproportionately affected in terms of reductions in income and services, by the welfare reform programme. The European Committee of Social Rights has expressed concern that these reforms will

lead to an increase in poverty amongst disabled people¹⁰¹ when already, twice as many disabled adults live in persistent poverty compared with non-disabled adults.¹⁰²

There is a range of research highlighting the disproportionate impact of the changes to welfare benefits on disabled people across the UK¹⁰³ and that this could be worse in Northern Ireland.104

Transition from Disability Living Allowance (DLA) to Personal Independence Payments (PIP)

The proposed transition from the DLA to PIP may result in a loss of income for many disabled people. It is estimated that in Britain by May 2018, there will have been a 28 per cent reduction in the number of individuals in receipt of PIP compared with those who would have received DLA. ¹⁰⁵ In Northern Ireland the estimate is that over half will either lose their entitlement altogether or have their benefit decreased. ¹⁰⁶ A report by the House of Commons Work and Pensions Committee found that decisions on eligibility for PIP can take up to 6 months or more. This has resulted in financial difficulties for some disabled people whilst awaiting the outcome of their PIP assessment. ¹⁰⁷

Housing benefit

Changes to housing benefit include reducing the amount of housing benefit paid to claimants if they are living in social housing and are deemed to have surplus bedrooms. This under occupancy deduction may particularly affect disabled people who require a second bedroom for a personal assistant or carer to stay overnight or to store equipment. The under occupancy deduction will affect 23 per cent of working age social housing benefit claimants in Britain and 53 per cent in Northern Ireland. Two-thirds of housing benefit claimants affected by the under occupancy deduction are disabled. Although Government has stated that Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) can be awarded to people facing hardship in paying their rent, different local authorities administering the fund apply different eligibility rules whilst some have capped the total amount available for DHP. The Scottish Government, on the other hand, has successfully appealed to the UK Government to allow it to remove the cap on the DHP fund in Scotland. In any event, the DHP is regarded as a transitional measure.

Work Capability Assessment

There is some evidence that disabled people are being assessed wrongly as fit for work and thus losing entitlement to social security benefits as a result. At the same time the Government's welfare to work measure, intended to get long-term unemployed people, including disabled people, into work is not delivering to target. 113

Cumulative impact assessment

In addition to the need to take account of the impact on disabled people of each aspect of welfare reform, a number of organisations have called for a cumulative impact assessment by the UK Government to assess the combined impact on disabled people.¹¹⁴

The UK Government has reasoned that modelling difficulties prevent it from undertaking an assessment of cumulative impact which would be sufficiently robust. However, there is a substantial body of opinion that thinks that it can be done.

The Social Security Advisory Committee advocates that maximum efforts should be made on an ongoing basis to evaluate the overall impact of the reform programme and proposes options for the Government to build on analyses which have already been undertaken. ¹¹⁵

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has also published research that shows that, with some caveats, cumulative impact assessment is both feasible and practicable. The study also provided a preliminary assessment of the cumulative impact of tax, spending and benefit changes in the 2010-15 period on equality groups. Amongst its findings, the research shows that the impact of tax and welfare reforms are more negative for families containing at least one disabled person, particularly a disabled child, and that these negative impacts are particularly strong for low income families. This is not surprising, given the significant cuts to workingage welfare, and the high proportion of working age welfare spent on disabled people, particularly those on low incomes.¹¹⁶

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

52. To provide information on the steps taken to identity and address the impact of the various reforms to social security on disabled people's human rights and the realisation of Article 28.

Article 29: Participation in political and public life

Accessibility in the voting system

At the 2010 UK General Election, 67 per cent of polling stations had one or more significant access barrier. This is only a 1 per cent improvement from the last General Election and 2 per cent from the General Election of 2001. 117

Despite the widespread assumption that postal voting is the most accessible way of voting for disabled voters, almost half of disabled voters who used the postal voting system reported one or more significant access problems.¹¹⁸

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

- 53. To explain the measures taken to ensure that voting ballots, postal votes and information explaining how to cast your vote are available in a range of accessible formats.
- 54. To explain how new technologies are being used to overcome the barriers that prevent disabled people from voting.
- 55. To explain how it ensures that polling stations are accessible.

Participation in public life

Disabled people continue to be significantly under-represented on the boards of public bodies. 119

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

56. To provide information about the steps taken in each nation to improve the representation of disabled people on boards of public bodies and how progress is being monitored.

Article 30: Participation in cultural life, recreation, leisure and sport

Sport

Despite the 4.2 per cent increase in participation by people with a long-standing illness or disability reported after the Olympic and Paralympic Games, ¹²⁰ disabled

people's participation in sport continues to be significantly lower than non-disabled people. 121

There is no commentary within the UK Initial Report about the participation of disabled people in sport in Northern Ireland.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

57. To provide up-to-date information about the number of disabled people participating in sport and physical activity and the progress made in all nations since the Initial Report.

Culture

Disabled people are significantly less likely to participate in cultural activities than non-disabled people¹²² and continue to face barriers around lack of accessible facilities, services and transport preventing equal participation in cultural life.¹²³

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

58. To explain how the initiatives set out in the Initial Report have increased disabled people's access to and participation in cultural life.

Article 31: Statistics and data collection

Data collection in the devolved countries and developing disability indicators

The Initial Report does not explain the measures taken by the devolved governments in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland under this article. Nor does it explain how the disability equality indicators will be further developed in accordance with the CRPD.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

- 59. To provide information on the statistics and research data collected by the devolved governments to meet the requirements under Article 31.
- 60. To explain how the disability equality indicators have been developed in accordance with the CRPD.

Despite improvements in the collection of disability statistics, significant gaps still remain in many important areas. For example, statistics are collected about pupils with special educational needs (SEN)/additional support needs (ASN). However, not all disabled pupils have SEN/ASN and so the data collected is not complete. In England and Scotland, statistics on the number of disabled children who are looked after by the state are not routinely collected. Independent surveys carried out in prisons have identified significant under-reporting of the numbers of disabled prisoners.

There is limited availability, in social surveys, of disaggregated disability data including disaggregation by other equality characteristics, such as sex, age and ethnicity. For example, there is limited data about the circumstances of disabled women and girls in the UK.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

61. What steps it has taken to identify and fill gaps in the collection of disability statistics, including measures to ensure this data is disaggregated by equality characteristics.

Article 33: National implementation and monitoring

Strategic coordination and CRPD Action Plan

The jurisdictional coverage of the UK Government's primary disability strategy, Fulfilling Potential – Making it Happen, is inconsistent. Fulfilling Potential focuses primarily on England and Wales. The Action Plan states that 'some [policies are] applicable across the whole of the UK and many to England only. The devolved administrations have their own policies with regard to devolved matters'. ¹²⁴ UKIM, and many DPOs, have been calling for national and UK-wide action plans which are streamlined and coordinated to bring together action by UK and devolved Governments.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

62. To explain how implementation of the Convention is coordinated across all the nations and whether integrated action plans will be developed, with clear actions and time-bound indicators at the UK-wide and national level.

There is little detail in *Fulfilling Potential* about how the Office for Disability Issues (ODI) coordinates implementation of the Convention across the Westminster Government departments and what the respective roles, accountability and make-up are of the ODI; Fulfilling Potential Strategy Group (which 'oversees' the action plan); and the Social Justice Cabinet Committee, which 'reviews' the work set out in the Action Plan.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

63. How does the UK ensure coordination on implementation across Government departments, in each jurisdiction?

The UK Independent Mechanism (UKIM)

There is no framework beyond UKIM to link key stakeholders, such as the regulatory bodies for key public services, to better promote, protect and monitor CRPD implementation.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

64. How does the UK intend to develop the framework for promotion, protection and monitoring implementation to involve and coordinate the work of key stakeholders?

Involvement of DPOs

UKIM has engaged in work across the nations to actively involve DPOs. 125 However, we believe that the primary responsibility for involvement rests with the UK as the State Party.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

65. What steps it has taken – including details of what practical and financial resources it has provided – to ensure that disabled people and their representative organisations are involved and actively participate in the reporting process and how this is coordinated across the UK.

Article 46: Reservations

UKIM does not believe reservations or interpretative declarations are appropriate in ratifying the Convention for the reasons set out below, and we continue to call for the withdrawal of the three remaining reservations and the interpretative declaration.

Reservation concerning Article 18 – Liberty of Movement and Nationality

Following the Home Office review of the reservation, the Minister announced the reservation was necessary 'to retain the right to apply immigration rules, to avoid creating an unnecessary new avenue to challenge immigration decisions due to the optional protocol, and to preserve the right to safeguard the public purse from excessive demands which may be placed on it'. 126

UKIM's view is that the reservation as currently drafted is so broad and general as to be incompatible with the object and purpose of the Convention and as such is in breach of Article 46 of the CRPD and Article 19 of the UN Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties concerning the permissibility of reservations.

The reservation is not compliant with the principle of non-discrimination set out in Article 5, which is fundamental to the UK Government's obligations under the Convention.

Reservation concerning Article 24 – Education

The realisation of Article 24 requires Governments to ensure the education system at all levels is inclusive and geared towards supporting disabled people to achieve their full potential and participate equally in society.

UKIM welcomes the commitment in the interpretative declaration to continue to develop an inclusive education system. However, we believe this commitment is contradicted by the UK's maintaining both a declaration and a reservation in relation to Article 24. We believe this displays an unnecessary and disproportionate degree of caution concerning Article 24.

Reservation concerning Article 27 – Work and Employment

UKIM rejects the arguments made by the Ministry of Defence (MOD) for the continued blanket exemption of the armed forces from the Equality Act 2010 and the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 that continues to apply in Northern Ireland, which underlies its proposed reservation.

Contrary to the MOD's interpretation, if the exemption was not in place it would not be required to abandon objective and necessary job criteria, including those in relation to levels of physical and mental fitness. As such removing the exemption would not require the armed forces to recruit non-deployable people or people with limited deployability so creating a 'two tier system'. By way of illustration, the exemption which had applied to the police and fire services in the original DDA was lifted in 2005, with no negative impact upon the ability of both services to determine objectively who joins the services, or upon operational effectiveness.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

66. What steps it has taken to review, and details of any evidence relied on as the basis to retain the reservations and interpretative declaration.

Annex

List of questions UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

- To explain how the UK and devolved governments take into account the UNCRPD in the development and implementation of all new and existing policies, programmes, and legislation and how this action is co-ordinated at national and UK-wide level.
- 2. Do the UK and devolved governments intend to implement the JCHR's recommendation and, if so, when?
- To describe the measures in place to ensure that public authorities, including councils, are aware of and act in conformity with the Convention and the outcomes of those measures.
- 4. To detail, with examples, how the UK and devolved governments ensure the active involvement of disabled people and children in the development and implementation of legislation and policies and the effect of this involvement.
- 5. What measures the Northern Ireland Executive has taken to ensure that the legislative protections for disabled people in Britain are available in Northern Ireland.
- 6. What steps has the UK taken to monitor and remedy the different treatment of disabled children seeking redress against discrimination or harassment in schools with regard to access to compensation and injunctive relief?
- 7. To outline the availability of specialist services that are accessible to disabled women who experience sexual or domestic abuse. Where these services are provided locally, how do the national governments meet their responsibilities by collating information on service availability and adequacy?
- 8. To evidence how local and national domestic violence strategies, policies and programmes identify the needs of disabled women and ensure disabled women are able to use domestic abuse services.
- 9. To detail the methods by which the views of disabled children and young people are respected fully and taken into account in the development of UK and

- devolved government strategies, policies and programmes on disability and children and to evidence the effect this has had.
- 10. To explain the initiatives that have been taken to reduce the number of disabled children living in poverty and the effect these initiatives have had.
- 11. To evidence how the particular needs of looked after disabled children are being addressed, the measures that have been taken to ensure they receive the support and care needed and the outcomes achieved by those measures.
- 12. To detail the steps taken and outcomes achieved to initiate and encourage public portrayals of disabled people, including through government communications that are consistent with the purpose of the Convention.
- 13. To provide current data on the extent to which accessible housing is available across the UK and information on how the UK will ensure that new and existing housing is accessible and can be easily adapted when people become disabled.
- 14. To explain the steps taken to improve access to the built environment including ensuring that public and private organisations comply with accessibility standards and to detail the effectiveness of these steps.
- 15. To explain the steps taken to ensure that street designs are accessible to and do not put at risk people with visual and other impairments and to detail the effectiveness of these steps.
- 16. To provide evidence of the effectiveness of legislation and public initiatives aimed at improving transport accessibility (including bus, rail, taxi and transport by air and sea); and to explain how monitoring is undertaken to ensure compliance with and improvements to meet its obligations under the Convention.
- 17. To provide an update on the steps taken to ensure the provision of information in accessible and appropriate formats, including Easy Read, and how the effectiveness of these measures is monitored.
- 18. To provide information on the availability of sign language interpreters, lip speakers and palantypists and the steps being taken to increase availability and ensure disabled people can access appropriate communication support in a timely and cost-effective manner.
- 19. To explain how current suicide prevention strategies take account of the needs and circumstances of disabled people, in particular those with mental health problems, and to evidence the effectiveness of these steps in reducing suicide rates.

- 20. To explain the steps taken to ensure that the UK carries out full and independent investigations into deaths in mental health care settings and to evidence the effectiveness of these steps.
- 21. To explain how the effectiveness of the frameworks governing mental capacity in each nation is being monitored, what actions have been taken to improve the availability of support in decision-making and the outcome of such action.
- 22. To explain how the effectiveness of the safeguards, which are in place to protect disabled people from abuse, in particular financial abuse, are monitored, to detail the steps taken to eradicate such abuse and to evidence the effectiveness of such steps.
- 23. To explain the measures taken to improve conviction rates where the victims of crime have mental health conditions or learning disabilities and provide evidence of the effectiveness of such measures.
- 24. To explain the measures taken to support 'vulnerable witnesses' with mental health conditions and learning disabilities and provide evidence of the effectiveness of such measures.
- 25. To explain how the impact on disabled people of the reform to legal aid and reduction in grants to advice agencies in England and Wales is being monitored and the steps being taken to address any negative effect.
- 26. To provide evidence of the effect on disabled people of the introduction of fees for employment tribunal cases and to detail the steps being taken to ameliorate any negative effect.
- 27. To detail the measures that have, or will be, put in place in each nation to ensure that those who are unable to consent to their placement or treatment in psychiatric hospitals and other care settings are protected in law and to explain the monitoring and review mechanisms that have been put in place.
- 28. To set out the steps taken to safeguard disabled people in health and social care settings, to monitor the effectiveness of such measures and to explain the progress that has been made since the submission of the Initial Report.
- 29. To detail the measures taken to limit the use of physical and chemical restraint and to evidence the effectiveness of such measures.
- 30. To provide an evidenced update on the progress that has been made in each nation since the submission of the Initial Report to improve the reporting and prosecution of disability-related hate crime.

- 31. To detail the initiatives taken to address disability-related harassment and bullying in schools and to evidence the progress that is being made in addressing this issue.
- 32. To explain what steps it has taken to assess the overall, cumulative impact of welfare reform, changes to social care funding and eligibility criteria and the closure of the ILF on disabled people.
- 33. To explain what measures have been taken, and what impact they have had, to ensure that the reduction in central government funding to local authorities and health and social care trusts in each nation does not have a negative impact on the realisation of Article 19.
- 34. To provide information about the steps taken to ensure local authorities understand the Convention rights when setting eligibility criteria for the provision of social care.
- 35. To provide information on the numbers of local authorities that charge for social care and how charging policies are monitored to identify the impact on disabled people.
- 36. To demonstrate, with examples, the extent to which measures taken in each nation ensure the portability of social care packages.
- 37. What steps are being taken to move people with learning disabilities who are living inappropriately in assessment and treatment units to more suitable accommodation where they are able to live and participate inclusively in their local communities?
- 38. What measures have been taken, and what impact they have had, to ensure that the closure of the Independent Living Fund (with the exception of Scotland) does not have a negative impact on the realisation of Article 19?
- 39. To set out the initiatives undertaken in each nation to promote better understanding of the needs of disabled parents and the effect these initiatives have had, and explain what information is provided to disabled parents about pregnancy, birth and caring for children.
- 40. To explain how reform of the Special Educational Needs (SEN) systems in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, and the current Additional Support Needs (ASN) system in Scotland, will improve educational outcomes for and participation of disabled children and young people.
- 41. To confirm the position in relation to inclusive education and explain how they will ensure the education system at all levels is inclusive and geared towards

- supporting disabled people to achieve their full potential and participate equally in society.
- 42. To provide information about the measures taken to identify and reduce both unlawful and lawful exclusion of disabled pupils across the UK and to explain how progress is monitored.
- 43. To explain the steps taken to improve the process of transition for disabled children and young people from children's education services to further education and employment services in each nation, the effect these are having and how progress is monitored?
- 44. What measures have been put in place to address the health inequalities faced by people with learning disabilities and mental health conditions and to provide evidence of the progress that has been made to ensure they receive appropriate and tailored health care services.
- 45. To set out the measures taken to ensure awareness and availability of advocacy services for people with learning disabilities and people with mental health conditions and to provide evidence of the effectiveness of those measures.
- 46. To provide evidence of what progress has been made to ensure the safeguards provided for in mental health legislation operate effectively.
- 47. To provide information about the steps being taken to ensure greater respect for the human rights of disabled people in mental health settings and to evidence the effectiveness of these steps.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the Northern Ireland Executive:

48. To confirm when a new Mental Health Strategy for Northern Ireland will be adopted.

UKIM recommends that the CRPD Committee ask the UK:

- 49. To provide an update on progress made to address the employment and pay gaps between disabled and non-disabled workers
- 50. To explain how the actions outlined in the Initial Report have created a positive approach by employers to disabled people; whether they are having the effect of addressing employers' negative perceptions of disabled people as employees and, if so, how these initiatives will be extended.

- 51. To explain how service providers delivering the Work Programme are ensuring that disabled people with complex support requirements have equal access to work and employment opportunities.
- 52. To provide information on the steps taken to identity and address the impact of the various reforms to social security on disabled people's human rights and the realisation of Article 28.
- 53. To explain the measures taken to ensure that voting ballots, postal votes and information explaining how to cast your vote are available in a range of accessible formats.
- 54. To explain how new technologies are being used to overcome the barriers that prevent disabled people from voting.
- 55. To explain how it ensures that polling stations are accessible.
- 56. To provide information about the steps taken in each nation to improve the representation of disabled people on boards of public bodies and how progress is being monitored.
- 57. To provide up-to-date information about the number of disabled people participating in sport and physical activity and the progress made in all nations since the Initial Report.
- 58. To explain how the initiatives set out in the Initial Report have increased disabled people's access to and participation in cultural life.
- 59. To provide information on the statistics and research data collected by the devolved governments to meet the requirements under Article 31.
- 60. To explain how the disability equality indicators have been developed in accordance with the CRPD.
- 61. What steps it has taken to identify and fill gaps in the collection of disability statistics, including measures to ensure this data is disaggregated by equality characteristics.
- 62. To explain how implementation of the Convention is coordinated across all the nations and whether integrated action plans will be developed, with clear actions and time-bound indicators at the UK-wide and national level.
- 63. How does the UK ensure coordination on implementation across Government departments, in each jurisdiction?

- 64. How does the UK intend to develop the framework for promotion, protection and monitoring implementation to involve and coordinate the work of key stakeholders?
- 65. What steps it has taken including details of what practical and financial resources it has provided to ensure that disabled people and their representative organisations are involved and actively participate in the reporting process and how this is coordinated across the UK.
- 66. What steps it has taken to review, and details of any evidence relied on as the basis to retain the reservations and interpretative declaration.

Contacts

This publication and related equality and human rights resources are available from the Commission's website: www.equalityhumanrights.com

For advice, information or guidance on equality, discrimination or human rights issues, please contact the Equality Advisory and Support Service, a free and independent service.

Website www.equalityadvisoryservice.com

Telephone 0808 800 0082

Textphone 0808 800 0084

Hours 09:00 to 20:00 (Monday to Friday)

10:00 to 14:00 (Saturday)

Post FREEPOST Equality Advisory Support Service FPN4431

Questions and comments regarding this publication may be addressed to: correspondence@equalityhumanrights.com. The Commission welcomes your feedback

Alternative formats

This guide is available as a PDF file and as a Microsoft Word file from www.equalityhumanrights.com. For information on accessing a Commission publication in an alternative format, please contact: correspondence@equalityhumanrights.com

© 2014 Equality and Human Rights Commission Published December 2014 ISBN 978 1 84206 578 5

Endnotes

¹ ODI (2011) UK Initial Report on the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, para 48, p16.

² JCHR (2012) Inquiry into the right of disabled people to independent living: Committee's Twenty Third Report of Session 2010-12, para 110.

³ JCHR, Inquiry into the right of disabled people to independent living.

⁴ Citizen Advice Bureau (2014) Advice Guide: Community Care www.adviceguide.org.uk/scotland/relationships s/relationships help for adults in the community s/community care.htm

⁵ Equality Commission for Northern Ireland (2012) 'Strengthening Protection for Disabled People Proposals for Reform'; Catherine Casserley (June 2013) 'The impacts of *Malcolm v London Borough of Lewisham* and Northern Ireland equality legislation' (Independent legal briefing for the Equality Commission NI).

⁶ EHRC Briefing Paper 3 (2011) 'Disabled people's experiences and concerns about crime.

⁷ EHRC Briefing Paper 3.

⁸ L. Ellison *et al* (2014 forthcoming) 'Challenging Criminal Justice? Psychosocial Disability and Rape Victimisation', Criminology and Criminal Justice.

⁹ Sin CH et al (2009) 'Disabled people's experiences of targeted violence and hostility', Research Report 21.

¹⁰ Walby, S *et al* (2012) 'Measuring the impact of cuts in public expenditure on the provision of services to prevent violence against women and girls', Northern Rock Foundation and Trust for London.

¹¹ NICE (2014) Public health guidance 50 'Domestic violence and abuse: how health services, social care and the organisations they work with can respond effectively'.

¹² Welsh Women's Aid, Disability Wales, University of South Wales <u>www.disabilitywales.org/projects/dometic-abuseof-disabled-women-in wales/</u>

¹³ Committee on the Rights of the Child 49th Session Consideration of Reports Submitted by States Parties under Article 44 of the Convention, Concluding Observations United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland CRC/C/GBR/CO/4.

¹⁴ ODI (2013) 'Fulfilling Potential: Making it Happen', <u>odi.dwp.gov.uk/docs/fulfilling-potential/making-it-happen.pdf</u> and ODI (2013) Fulfilling Potential: Making it Happen Action Plan <u>odi.dwp.gov.uk/docs/fulfilling-potential/making-it-happen-action-plan.pdf</u>

¹⁵ Blackburn *et al* (2010) Prevalence of childhood disability and the characteristics and circumstances of disabled children in the UK BMC Pediatrics, 10:21.

¹⁶ Children's Society (2011) '4 in every 10 disabled children living in poverty'.

¹⁷ Parliamentary Inquiry into childcare for disabled children, July 2014, www.familyandchildcaretrust.org/ parliamentary-inquiry-into-childcare-for-disabled-children

¹⁸ Citizen's Advice, Disability Rights UK and The Children's Society (Oct 2012) 'Holes in the safety net: the impact of universal credit on disabled people'. Also see n118 for recent research by EHRC, summarised in section in this document on Article 28.

¹⁹ Baker, C (2011) IRISS Insights, No 11 'Permanence and stability for disabled looked after children'; SCCYP (2012) 'A critical review and analysis of current research and policy relating to disabled children and young people in Scotland: A report to Scotland's Commissioner for Children and Young People' and DHSSPS/NISRA Statistical Bulletin (2012) 'Children in Care in Northern Ireland 2011/12'.

²⁰ Scope (2012) Disabled people point to issue of 'benefit scroungers' as discrimination increases. www.scope.org.uk/news/disability-2012/discrimination; Disability Rights UK (2013) Paralympics Legacy: new attitudes survey www.disabilityrightsuk.org/news/2013/august/paralympics-legacy-new-attitudes-survey. Anti-Bullying Alliance (2011) 'Bullying of children with disabilities and SEN in schools: Briefing paper for parents on

the views and experiences of other parents, carers and families' and EHRC (2011) 'Hidden in Plain Sight: Inquiry into disability-related harassment'.

- ²¹ Strathclyde Centre for Disability Research and Glasgow Media Unit (2011) 'Bad news for disabled people: how the newspapers are reporting disability' www.gla.ac.uk/media/media_214917_en.pdf
- ²² NatCen (2012) British Social Attitudes 29.
- ²³ Strathclyde Centre for Disability Research and Glasgow Media Unit, p11.
- ²⁴ ODI (2012) Life Opportunities Survey; Communities and Local Government (2009) 'English House Condition Survey 2007 Annual Report'.
- ²⁵ Our engagement with disabled people in England, Scotland and Northern Ireland indicated that the accessibility of the built environment is a very significant issue; Adapt NI with BMKent Consulting (April 2013) 'ABC audit benchmark change State of disability access report 2013'.
- ²⁶ ODI (2011) 'Accessibility outside the home: Key facts from the Life Opportunities Survey interim results 2009/10'; Adapt NI with BMKent Consulting.
- ²⁷ Documentary film by Sarah Gayton 'Sea of Change: Walking into Trouble' www.youtube.com/watch?v=kBtqG91S9DM
- ²⁸ ODI (2011) Life Opportunities Survey Consultation responses to the Initiatives related to the ScotRail franchise extension (2008).
- ²⁹ ECNI (2013) 'Review of the Formal Investigation into the Accessibility of Health Information for People with a Learning Disability in NI Summary' Harper, C *et al* (2014) 'Disability programmes and policies: How does Northern Ireland measure up?', Monitoring Implementation (public policy and programmes) of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in Northern Ireland, p61.
- ³⁰ The Guardian (7 May 2014) 'Lack of British Sign Language interpreters putting deaf people at risk' www.theguardian.com/society/2013/may/07/lack-interpreters-deaf-people-risk
- ³¹ Hearing Link (2012) Communication support YourDoc Medical (2011) The future of communication services for deaf and hard of hearing people.
- ³² Harper, C et al, 'Disability programmes and policies'.
- ³³ Scotland: 14.0 deaths per 100,000. Scottish Public Health Observatory www.scotpho.org.uk/health-wellbeing-and-disease/suicide/data/scottish-trends; England: 10.4 deaths per 100,000 population, Office for National Statistics (2011) 'Statistical bulletin: Suicides in the United Kingdom', and Northern Ireland: 16.0 per 100,000, Tomlinson, M (2012) 'War, Peace and Suicide: The Case of Northern Ireland' International Sociology 27 (4): 464-482.
- ³⁴ WHO, Suicide Prevention <u>www.who.int/mental_health/prevention/suicide/background/en/</u>
- ³⁵ EHRC (2012) Human Rights Review 2012. <u>www.equalityhumanrights.com/about-us/our-work/humanrights/human-rights-review</u>
- ³⁶ Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland Report on deaths in detention 2011/12 http://www.mwcsscot.orh.uk/media/175822/death_in_detention_final.pdf
- ³⁷ Lord Cullen (2009) 'Report of findings of Review of Fatal Accident Inquiry Legislation, an independent review'.
- ³⁸ See http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/our-legal-work/inquiries-and-assessments/inquiry-non-natural-deaths-detention-adults-mental-health-conditions
- ³⁹ Section 4 of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 requires that in determining an individual's best interests, an intervener must consider the person's past and present wishes and feelings, their values and the other factors which they would consider if they were able to make the decision. The intervener must consider the views of the persons who the individual who is deemed to lack capacity.
- ⁴⁰ Select Committee on Mental Capacity Act 2005 'Mental Capacity Act 2005: post-legislative scrutiny Report of Session 2013-14' para 104; Manthorpe J *et al* (2009) 'Safeguarding and system change' British Journal of Social Work, 39 (8) 1465-1480; Sin CH *et al*, 'Disabled person's experiences' .
- ⁴¹ Select Committee on the Mental Capacity Act 2005.
- ⁴² Select Committee on the Mental Capacity Act 2005; Manthorpe J et al 'Safeguarding and system change'.
- ⁴³ Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland (2008c) 'Justice Denied Ms A'.

⁴⁴ Kelly, L *et al* (2005) 'A gap or a chasm? Attrition in reported rape cases'; HM Crown Prosecution Service Inspectorate (2007) 'Without Consent: A report on the joint review of investigation and prosecution of rape offences'.

⁴⁵ House of Commons Justice Committee (2011) Inquiry Report on 'Government's proposed reform of legal aid: Third Report of Session 2010-11' Vol 1, p32.

⁴⁶ Equality and Human Rights Commission (2012) 'Human Rights Review', p255.

⁴⁷ See Equality Impact Assessment on the provision of telephone advice: <u>webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/</u> 20111121205348/http://www.justice.gov.uk/downloads/consultations/eia-telephone-advice.pdf

⁴⁸ See, for example www.lawgazette.co.uk/practice/keeping-gateway-to-debt-advice-open/5037675.article
Further evidence may be available from the House of Commons Justice Committee when it publishes the report of its inquiry into the impact of the LASPO Act reforms: www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees/news/new-inquiry-laspo/

⁴⁹ The Low Commission (January 2014) found that: 'reductions in local authority funding of advice and legal support (are) estimated to be at least £40m by 2015'; Shelter has had to close nine of its advice centres as a result of a £3m cut in its legal aid funding ;ASA have had their grant from the (then) LSC cut, reducing their ability to perform a co-ordinating and representative role www.lowcommission.org.uk/dyn/1389221772932/Low-Commission-Report-FINAL-VERSION.pdf

⁵⁰ The fee to lodge a discrimination claim at the Employment Tribunal is £250 and the hearing fee is £950.

⁵¹ Employment Tribunal receipt statistics, Management Information July to September 2013.

⁵² HL v UK 45508/99 (2004) ECHR 471.

⁵³ Schedule A1, Mental Capacity Act 2005.

⁵⁴ HL v UK 45508/99 (2004) ECHR 471.

⁵⁵ Mental Capacity and Mental Health Legislation in Northern Ireland: A Policy Consultation document January 20xx; The Scottish Law Commission is currently consulting in reforming the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 with regard to de facto detention.

⁵⁶ The House of Lords Select Committee on the Mental Capacity Act 2005: 'Mental Capacity Act 2005: post legislative scrutiny Report of Session 2013-14. The Committee concluded that the DOLS are 'poorly drafted, overly complex … not well understood … and poorly implemented' and recommended that 'a comprehensive review of the DOLS with a view to replacing them.' (From Summary.)

⁵⁷ Notably at the Winterbourne View private hospital in England, where criminal abuse was uncovered in 2011, but also in care homes – Flynn, M (2012) 'Winterbourne View Hospital: A Serious Case Review', South Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board; Health and Social Care Information Centre (2013) "Learning Disabilities Census Report – Further analysis".

⁵⁸ NIHRC (2012) 'In Defence of Dignity: The Human Rights of Older People in Nursing Homes'.

⁵⁹ NIHRC (2013) 'Annual Statement 2013', pp22-23.

⁶⁰ Scope (2011) NDPP Survey Feb-March 2011.

⁶¹ Home Office, Office for National Statistics and Ministry of Justice (2013) 'An Overview of Hate Crime in England and Wales'; Northern Ireland Policing Board (2013) 'Annual Human Rights Statement 2012/13' p110 and Crown Office (2013) 'Hate Crime in Scotland 2012-13'.

⁶² EHRC, 'Hidden in plain sight'.

⁶³ Criminal Justice Joint Inspection (March 2013) Living in a different world: joint review of disability hate crime.

⁶⁴ Scotsman (27 March 2014) 'Scotland "failing disabled hate-crime victims" reporting on speech by Frank Mulholland QC, Lord Advocate www.scotsman.com/news/politics/top-stories/scotland-failing-disabled-hate-crime-victims-1-3354981

⁶⁵ EHRC, 'Hidden in plain sight'.

⁶⁶ JCHR, Inquiry into the right of disabled people to independent living.

⁶⁷ Hastings, A *et al* (2013) 'Coping with the cuts? Local government and poorer communities' – reports that local government spending in England is set to fall by nearly 30 per cent in real terms between 2008 and 2015 and in Scotland by 24 per cent, and as funding covers some new service burdens, the underlying cut in funding for existing services is even higher. Cuts in spending tell only part of the story as authorities also have to cope with

rising costs and demands; COSLA (2013) 'Charging Guidance 2013-14' p7 explains that work undertaken by the Scottish Government's Chief Economist indicates that public spending in Scotland faces a long period of restraint not returning to 2010 levels until 2025. Duffy, S (2014) 'Counting the cuts: what the government doesn't want the public to know' – reports that by 2015-16 local government must cut £31.6 billion from its non-ring fenced funding, proportionately this would mean cut of £15 billion to social care.

- ⁶⁸ ADASS (2013) 'Budget Survey 2013' www.adass.org.uk/Content/Article.aspx?id=1034
- ⁶⁹ Community Care (2013) Nationwide care threshold 'will exclude hundreds of thousands in need', 28 June www.communitycare.co.uk/2013/06/28/nationwide-care-threshold-will-exclude-hundreds-of-thousands-in-need/
- ⁷⁰ COSLA, 'Charging Guidance 2013-14', p8 states that over the past two years income from charging people with learning disabilities has increased income by £2.5m; Scotland Against the Care Tax (2013) 'Briefing 2013' scotlandagainstthecaretax.org/
- ⁷¹ Pitt, V (2010) 'Council Charges for home care on the increase' www.communitycare.co.uk/2010/09/17/council-charges-for-home-care-on-the-increase/#.U4eRepRdXWQ7
- ⁷² Learning Disabilities Census Report Further Analysis: England 30 September 2013, Health and Social Care Information Centre, April 2014.
- ⁷³ Disability, Pregnancy and Parenthood International (2009) http://www.dppi.org.uk/projects/episurvey.php
- ⁷⁴ EHRC and SHRC (2013) 'Overview of Roundtable held on 1 November 2013'.
- ⁷⁵ Harper, C et al, 'Disability programmes and policies', p61.
- ⁷⁶ ODI (2011) 'Life Opportunities Survey Wave one results, 2009/11'; ECNI (2007) 'Statement of Key Inequalities in Northern Ireland'; ODI (2013) 'Fulfilling Potential: Building a Deeper Understanding' and Equality Challenge Unit (2013) 'Equality in higher education, Statistical report'.
- 77 See www.bbc.co.uk/news/education-27072335
- ⁷⁸ Byrne, B, Harper, C, Irvine, RS, Russell, H and Fitzpatrick, B (2014): 'Shortfalls in public policy and programme delivery in Northern Ireland relative to the Articles of the UNCRPD', p 127 (Belfast: Equality Commission).
- ⁷⁹ Children's Commissioner for England (2013) 'School Exclusion Inquiry Report: Always Someone Else's Problem'; Contact a Family (2013) 'Falling through the net, Illegal exclusions the experiences of families with disabled children in England and Wales and Scottish Government (2014) 'Summary Statistics for Schools in Scotland', No 4: 2013 Edition, table 5.2.
- ⁸⁰ Kelly, B (2013) 'Don't Box Me In, Disability Identity and Transitions to Adult Life', Executive Summary p1; 'Regulation Quality and Improvement Authority (2013) 'A Baseline Assessment and Review of Community Services for Adults with a Learning Disability', p36 and Lundy L *et al* (2012) 'Review of Transitions to Adult Services for Young People with Learning Disabilities', NICCY, p34 para 2 and Scottish Government (2012) 'Doran Review Final Report: The Right Help at the Right Time in the Right Place: Strategic Review of Learning Provision for Children and Young People with Complex Additional Support Needs'.
- ⁸¹ Children and Families Act 2014 s30.
- ⁸² Review of Mental Health and Learning Disability (Northern Ireland) (2005) 'Equal Lives Review of Policy and Services for People with a Learning Disability in Northern Ireland', p29;
- NHS Health Scotland (2004) 'People with Learning Disabilities in Scotland: The Health Needs Assessment Report' and EHRC (2010) 'How Fair is Britain, Equality, Human Rights and Good Relations in 2010' chpt 6
- ⁸³ Disability Rights Commission (2006) Equal Treatment Closing the Gap. <u>disability-studies.leeds.ac.uk/files/library/DRC-Health-FI-main.pdf</u>
- ⁸⁴ Disability Rights Commission (2006) 'Equal Treatment: Closing the Gap'; Redley M *et al* (2012) 'Healthcare for men and women with learning disabilities: understanding inequalities in access', Disability and Society, Vol. 27, No. 6: 747–759; BMA (2014) 'Recognising the importance of physical health in mental health and intellectual disability' and ECNI (2008) 'Section 75 Formal Investigation into the Accessibility of Health Information for People with a Learning Disability 2006-2008'.
- ⁸⁵ Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman and Local Government Ombudsman (2009) 'Six Lives: the provision of public services to people with learning disabilities'.
- ⁸⁶ Scottish Government (2009) 'Limited Review of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003'

Trade Union Council and Child Poverty Action Group (2013) 'Will Universal Credit work?'; Children's Society and Disability Rights UK (2012) 'Holes in the Safety Net: The impact of Universal Credit on disabled people'; Disability Wales (2013) 'Cap in Hand? The impact of welfare reform on disabled people in Wales'; Capability Scotland (2013): 'Squeezed out: counting the real cost of the bedroom tax'; Citizens Advice Scotland (2013) 'The effect of Government policies on disabled people'; Beatty, C and Fothergill, S (October 2013) 'The Impact of Welfare Reform on Northern Ireland' Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research, Sheffield Hallam University and Northern Ireland Council for Voluntary Action; Northern Ireland Assembly Ad Hoc Committee (2013) 'Report on whether the Provisions of the Welfare Reform Bill are in Conformity with the Requirements for Equality and Observance of Human Rights'; Law Centre Northern Ireland (2011) 'Evidence to the Work and Pensions Select Committee Proposal to Replace Disability Living Allowance with Personal Independence Payment' and Northern Ireland Welfare Reform Group (2012) 'The Welfare Reform Bill: Briefing on the key issues for people with disabilities and carers'.

⁸⁷ Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland (2014) 'Visit and monitoring report: Specified person monitoring'.

⁸⁸ House of Commons Health Committee (2013) 'First Report Post-legislative scrutiny of the Mental Health Act 2007'.

⁸⁹ NHS Quality Improvement Service (2010) 'Intensive Psychiatric Care Units: overview report'.

⁹⁰ The Schizophrenia Commission (2012) 'The Abandoned Illness'; Jones J *et al* (2010) 'Psychiatric wards: Places of safety?' Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing, 17, 124-130 and MIND (2013) 'Mental health crisis care: physical restraint in crisis'.

⁹¹ Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety for Northern Ireland (2012) 'Fit and Well – Changing Lives – A Ten Year Public Health Strategic Framework for Northern Ireland 2012-2022, A Consultation Document' p35; Gray, AM and Horgan, G (2009) 'Figuring It Out – Looking Behind the Social Statistics in Northern Ireland' p27 Economic and Social Research Council, University of Ulster and Queens University Belfast.

⁹² Bamford Centre for Mental Health and Wellbeing (2011) 'Troubled consequences: A report on the mental health impact of the civil conflict in Northern Ireland', Commission for Victims and Survivors and Oral Statement by Chief Constable of the PSNI to the Northern Ireland Affairs Committee of the House of Commons – see Hansard Script 24 January 2012 HC 877-i.

⁹³ EHRC, 'Working Better: The Perfect Partnership'.

⁹⁴ Raeside, R, McQuaid, R, Canduela, J, Graham, H, Chen, T, Egdell, V and Pearson, M (March 2014) 'Employment Inequalities in Northern Ireland', p 178 (Employment Research Institute, Edinburgh Napier University).

⁹⁵ EHRC, 'How Fair is Britain?'

⁹⁶ Bunt, K et al (2001) 'Recruiting benefit claimants', Research report 150.

⁹⁷ EHRC, 'Working Better'.

⁹⁸ British Household Survey 2005-08 (quoted in UK Initial Report).

⁹⁹ ADASS, 'Budget Survey 2013'.

¹⁰⁰ Duffy, S (2013) 'A Fair Society? How the cuts target disabled people' The Centre for Welfare Reform. This report claims that disabled people will lose £4410 per head as a result of the spending reductions introduced in 2010/11,this is nine times more than for the general population; Wilson, T *et al* (2013) 'The local impacts of welfare reform. An assessment of cumulative impacts and mitigations', London Centre for Economic and Social Inclusion for the Local Government Association. This report found that the introduction of Universal Credit is likely to cause disabled people the steepest reduction in income of any group and it calls for a government cumulative impact assessment particularly in relation to disabled people.

¹⁰¹ European Committee of Social Rights (2014) 'European Social Charter Conclusions XX-2 (2013) (Great Britain)'.

¹⁰² British Household Survey 2005-08 (quoted in UK Initial Report).

¹⁰³ Demos (2013) 'Destination Unknown: April 2013' www.demos.co.uk/blog/destinationunknownapril2013; Aldridge, H and Tinson, A (2013) 'How many families are affected by more than one benefit cut this April?'; Hardest Hit Coalition/RNIB (2012) 'The Tipping Point' www.rnib.org.uk/getinvolved/campaign/hardest-hit/Pages/HH. Tipping Point.aspx

- ¹⁰⁴ MacInnes, T *et al* (2012) 'Monitoring Poverty and Social Inclusion in Northern Ireland', York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation p31.
- Department for Work and Pensions (2012) 'Personal Independence Payment: Reassessment and Impacts' https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/180964/pip-reassessments-and-impacts.pdf
- ¹⁰⁶ Department for Social Development (April 2013) Welfare Reform Briefing Section 75 Update(Belfast: DSD) www.dsdni.gov.uk/welfare-reform-bill-section-75-update-april-2013.doc
- 25% of those Disability Living Allowance recipients who will be reassessed before October 2015 will not be eligible for Personal Independence Payment and will receive no award while 32% will have their award decreased and 24% are expected to see an increase in their payments. The remaining 19% are expected to see no change and In Northern Ireland Social Security is a devolved matter for the Northern Ireland Assembly. However, similar legislation under consideration stage at the Northern Ireland Assembly will ensure parity of treatment of all disabled people across the UK. See Department of Social Development (2011): 'Welfare Reform Bill (Northern Ireland) 2011 Equality Impact Assessment Consultation', p11.
- ¹⁰⁷ House of Commons Work and Pensions Committee report (18 March 2014) Third Report 'Monitoring the Performance of the Department for Work and Pensions in 21012-13'.
- ¹⁰⁸ A reduction of 14% of eligible rent will apply where there is one spare bedroom, and a reduction of 25% of eligible rent for two or more spare bedrooms.
- ¹⁰⁹ Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2014) 'Monitoring Poverty and Exclusion in Northern Ireland' p5.
- ¹¹⁰ National Housing Federation <u>s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/doc.housing.org.uk/News/</u>Bedroom_tax_home_truths.pdf
- ¹¹¹ House of Commons Work and Pensions Committee (26 March 2014) 'Support for Housing Costs in the reformed welfare system', Fourth Report of Session 2013-14 paras 136-148, pp42-45.
- 112 Department for Social Development (1 August 2012): News Release, available at:

 www.northernireland.gov.uk/index/media-centre/news-departments/news-dsd/news-releases-dsd-august2012/news-dsd-010812-esa-appeals-upheld.htm; Department for Work and Pensions (June 2014) 'Employment Support Allowance: outcomes of Work Capability Assessments, Great Britain' Quarterly official statistics bulletin, fig 3, p9; Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland (March 2014) 'Investigation Report: Who Benefits? The benefits assessment and death of Ms DE' A report on an investigation concerning a woman who took her own life after a work capability assessment.
- ¹¹³ House of Commons Committee of Public Accounts (13 February 2013) 'DWP: Work Programme Outcome Statistics' Thirty-third Report of Session 2012-2013 report together with formal minutes and written evidence, conclusions and recommendations pp3-6 and Disability Rights UK (2013) 'Taking Control of Employment Support'.
- ¹¹⁴ Demos (2012) 'Destination Unknown: Summer 2012'; EHRC (2012) 'Making Fair Financial Decisions: An assessment of HM Treasury's Spending Review conducted under Section 31 of the 2006 Equality Act' and ECNI (2011) 'Response to the Department for Social Development's consultation on the Welfare Reform Bill (Northern Ireland) 2011 Equality Impact Assessment'.
- ¹¹⁵ Social Security Advisory Committee (2014) The Cumulative Impact of Welfare Reform: a commentary: ssac.independent.gov.uk/pdf/cumulative-impact-welfare-reform-apr-14.pdf. Since 2010, at each fiscal event, HM Treasury publishes an assessment of impact on household incomes. See, for example: www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/293738/budget_2014_distributional_analysis.pdf
- ¹¹⁶ See <u>www.equalityhumanrights.com/publication/research-report-94-cumulative-impact-assessment-executive-summary</u>
- ¹¹⁷ Scope (2010) 'Polls apart 2010'.
- ¹¹⁸ Scope, 'Polls apart 2010'.
- ¹¹⁹ The Commissioner for Public Appointments 'Annual Report 2012-13'; Scottish Government Public Appointments website www.appointed-for-scotland.org/About-public-bodies/Diversity/ and Office of the First and deputy First Minister (2012) 'Public Appointments Annual Report 2011/12' p16.
- ¹²⁰ DCMS (2013) '2012 Games Evaluation: Report 5 Post-Games Evaluation Summary Report'.
- ¹²¹ Sport England (2012) 'Active People Survey 6'.

¹²² DCMS (2012) 'Taking Part Survey 2011/12'.

¹²³ ODI (2011) 'Factsheet: Leisure, community and civic life. Key facts from the Life Opportunities Survey interim results, 2009/10'; EHRC/SHRC (2011) 'Being part of Scotland's story under the UN Disability Convention and Hearing Dogs for Deaf People (2013) survey found that over 80% of deaf people with hearing dogs have been refused access to restaurants, shops and cafes.

¹²³ Hansard (22 March 2012) Home Department, The Minister for Immigration (Damian Green), Col 74WS.